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,� DP� SOHDVHG� WR� SUHVHQW� WKH� ����� $QQXDO����
5HSRUW�RQ�EHKDOI�RI�WKH�9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW� 
� 
9LOODJH� &RXQFLO� FRQWLQXHG� ZRUNLQJ� ZLWK� WKH�
SURYLQFH�RQ�D�YDULHW\�RI�PHDVXUHV�WR�PLWLJDWH�
WKH� &RYLG-��� SDQGHPLF�� WKH� PXWDWLQJ��������
YDULDQWV�� SHUVRQDO� SURWHFWLRQ� UHVWULFWLRQV� DQG�
HFRQRPLF� UHFRYHU\�� � 7R� HQKDQFH� WKLV������
&RXQFLO� IRFXVHG�HIIRUWV� RQ� IRXU� VWUDWHJLF� SUL�
RULWLHV�� FRPPXQLFDWLRQV�� FRPPXQLW\� KHDOWK��
ILVFDO�UHVSRQVLELOLW\��DV�ZHOO�DV�ODQG-XVH�SODQ�
QLQJ�DQG�GHYHORSPHQW�VXSSRUW� 
 
0DNLQJ� VWULGHV� ZLWK� FRPPXQLFDWLRQ�� WKH�����
9LOODJH¶V�QHZ�ZHEVLWH�ZHQW�OLYH����,W�KDV�JUHDW�
O\� LPSURYHG� WUDQVSDUHQF\� DQG� WKH� DELOLW\� WR�
ILQG� LQIRUPDWLRQ�DERXW�RXU�RUJDQL]DWLRQ�� �)RU�
H[DPSOH�� WKLV� $QQXDO� 5HSRUW�� 6WDWHPHQW� RI�
)LQDQFLDO� ,QIRUPDWLRQ�� &RXQFLO� 0HHWLQJ��
$JHQGDV� DQG� 0LQXWHV�� %XLOGLQJ� 3HUPLW�������
UHTXLUHPHQWV�� %\ODZV�� DQG� FRPPXQLW\� GDWD��
HWF��� FDQ� DOO� EH� IRXQG� RQOLQH� ULJKW� IURP� WKH�
FRPIRUW�RI�\RXU�KRPH���:H�SDUWQHUHG�ZLWK�WKH��������
5HJLRQDO�'LVWULFWV� RI�(DVW�.RRWHQD\��&HQWUDO�
.RRWHQD\�� &ROXPELD� 6KXVZDS�� .RRWHQD\�
%RXQGDU\��DV�ZHOO�DV�.WXQD[D�)LUVW�1DWLRQ�LQ�
D� PDVVLYH� MRLQW� DSSOLFDWLRQ� WR� WKH� 8QLYHUVDO�
%URDGEDQG� )XQG� WR� JUHDWO\� LPSURYH� LQWHUQHW�
FRQQHFWLYLW\�LQ�RXU�FRPPXQLW\� 
 
6RFLDO� PHGLD� SODWIRUPV� DUH� XWLOL]HG� VR� LQIRU�
PDWLRQ�FDQ�EH�VKDUHG�LQ�DOPRVW�UHDO-WLPH�DQG�
QRWKLQJ� PDNHV� IRU� PRUH� H[FLWHPHQW� WKDQ� WR�
KDYH� D� ORFDOL]HG� HPHUJHQF\� GXULQJ� D� JOREDO�
SDQGHPLF�� � $� ODUJH� SRUWLRQ� RI� RYHUEXUGHQ���
UHOHDVHG� QHDU� WKH�%HDU� )RRW� WKUXVW� )DXOWOLQH�

QRUWK� RI� WKH� 9LOODJH�� � 7KLV� FUHDWHG� D� ODQG�
VOLGH� DERYH� 6ZLIW� &UHHN� ZKLFK� WKUHDWHQHG�
WKH�RQO\�VRXUFH�RI�WKH�9LOODJH¶V�GULQNLQJ�ZD�
WHU�� � :KDW� PDGH� LW� HYHQ� PRUH� HHULH� ZDV�
WKDW� WKHUH� ZHUH� GD\V� ZH� FRXOG� QRW� VHH� LW�
IURP� DIDU�� � 7KH� SURYLQFH�ZDV� GHDOLQJ�ZLWK�
DQRWKHU� UHFRUG� VHDVRQ� RI� ZLOGILUHV� DQG�
VPRNH�ILOOHG�RXU�YDOOH\�ZKLFK�PDGH�IRU�YHU\�
SRRU�YLVLELOLW\�� 
 
)RU�WKH�ILUVW�WLPH�LQ�KLVWRU\��9DOHPRXQW�DQG�
RXU�SDUWQHUV�DW�5HJLRQDO�'LVWULFW�)UDVHU-)RUW�
*HRUJH�DFWLYDWHG�D�MRLQW-(PHUJHQF\�2SHUD�
WLRQV� &HQWUH� DQG� SODFHG� DSSUR[�� ���������
SURSHUWLHV�RQ�HYDFXDWLRQ�DOHUW��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH���
*ROGHQ� <HDU� /RGJH�� DQ� LQGHSHQGHQW-OLYLQJ�
VHQLRUV� KRXVLQJ� IDFLOLW\�� � 0RQLWRULQJ� RI����
WHQVLRQ� FUDFNV� EHKLQG� WKH� VOLGH� DUHD� LV�����
RQ-JRLQJ�� 3XEOLF� ZRUNV� VWDII� DSSURSULDWHO\������������
FRPPHQFHG� D� ZDWHU� ZHOO� GULOOLQJ� SURJUDP�
QHDU�WKH�HQG�RI�WKH�\HDU�WR�EHWWHU�VHFXUH�D�
SRWHQWLDO� VHFRQG� DQG� WKLUG� VRXUFH� RI������
GULQNLQJ� ZDWHU�� � 7UDQV� 0RXQWDLQ� 3LSHOLQH��������
([SDQVLRQ�3URMHFW�DVVLVWHG�ZLWK�DURXQG�WKH�
FORFN� VWUHDP� PRQLWRULQJ� DQG� WKH� /HGFRU-
6LFLP� *URXS� RI� &RPSDQLHV� DVVXUHG� WKH���
YLOODJH� ZLWK� DQ\� LPPHGLDWH� KHDY\���������
HTXLSPHQW�QHHGV� 
 
(VVHQWLDO� ILQDQFLDO� UHVHUYHV� IRU� WKH� IXWXUH�
UHSODFHPHQW�ZDWHU�DQG�VHZHU�LQIUDVWUXFWXUH�
FRQWLQXHG� WR� JURZ� GXH� WR� VHUYLFH� DUUDQJH�
PHQWV� ZLWK� WKH� 7UDQV� 0RXQWDLQ� 3LSHOLQH���
([SDQVLRQ� SURMHFW�� 7R� EHWWHU� IDFLOLWDWH������
DFFHVV�� ��WK� $YHQXH�� WKH� ZDWHU� ILOO� DQG�
VHZDJH�UHFHLYLQJ�VWDWLRQV�ZHUH�VLJQLILFDQWO\�

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

UHFRQVWUXFWHG� DQG� SDYHG�� 7KH� SURMHFW¶V� ZRUNIRUFH� LQFUHDVHG� WKURXJKRXW� ����� DQG� &RXQFLO��
IXUWKHU� DGGUHVVHG� KRXVLQJ� SUHVVXUHV� E\� DOORZLQJ� –� WKURXJK� SHUPLW� DSSOLFDWLRQV� DQG� SXEOLF�
KHDULQJV�–�WHPSRUDU\�UHVLGHQWLDO�RFFXSDWLRQ�RI�UHFUHDWLRQDO�YHKLFOHV��59V����$V�RI�'HFHPEHU�
��VW�������� WKH�7UDQV�0RXQWDLQ�([SDQVLRQ�3URMHFW�DORQJ�6SUHDG��� LV�DW�����RI�PHFKDQLFDO��
FRPSOHWLRQ�� 
 
7KUHH�PXOWL-SHUVRQ�KRXVLQJ�SURMHFWV�E\�VRPH�DPD]LQJ�ORFDO�QRW-IRU-SURILWV�HLWKHU�UHFHLYHG��RF�
FXSDQF\�SHUPLWV��EHJDQ�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�RU�ZHUH�DSSURYHG� IRU�SURMHFW� IXQGLQJ� LQ�������&RXQFLO�
ZRUNHG�ZLWK�WKH�SURSRQHQWV�E\�ZDLYLQJ�GHYHORSPHQW�FRVW�FKDUJHV��GRQDWLRQ�RI�PXQLFLSDO�ODQG�
DQG� LQYHVWPHQW� LQ� ORQJ-WHUP� LQIUDVWUXFWXUH� DGGLWLRQV� DQG� LPSURYHPHQWV�� 7KHVH� SURMHFWV� ZLOO�
LQFUHDVH�RXU�KRXVLQJ�VWRFN������IRU�WKH�PRVW�YXOQHUDEOH�RI�RXU�UHVLGHQWV��,Q�DGGLWLRQ�WR�WKLV��D�
��-VSDFH�FKLOGFDUH�IDFLOLW\�DOVR�VWDUWHG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ� 
 
&RXQFLO� FRQWLQXHV� WR�DGGUHVV� WKH� UHDOLW\�RI�SRRU�DLU�TXDOLW\�� �2XU�&OHDQ�$LU�7DVNIRUFH�PDGH�
VWULGHV� RQ� WKHLU� $LUVKHG�0DQDJHPHQW� 3URJUDP� DQG�PHPEHUV� RI� &RXQFLO� FRQVLVWHQWO\� OREE\�
VHQLRU� JRYHUQPHQW� RQ� WKH� LPSRUWDQFH� RI� DFFHVVLQJ� RXU� JHRWKHUPDO� KHDW� UHVRXUFHV� IRU� D���
FRPPXQLW\-ZLGH�GLVWULFW�KHDWLQJ�SURMHFW�ZKLFK�ZLOO�OHVVHQ�HOHFWULFDO�JULG�UHOLDQFH� 
 
:H�KDYH�EHHQ�WKURXJK�D�ORW�LQ��������&RXQFLO�DQG�VWDII�ZLOO�FRQWLQXH�WKH�ZRUN�QHHGHG�WR�WDNH�
RXU�FRPPXQLW\�IRUZDUG�LQWR�DQG�WKURXJK�WKH�HQGHPLF�VWDJH�RI�&RYLG-����:H�VR�ORRN�IRUZDUG�
WR� JDWKHULQJV� DQG�SDUWLFXODUO\� LQ-SHUVRQ�PHHWLQJV�ZLWK� RXU� SDUWQHUV� DW�6LPSFZ�)LUVW�1DWLRQ��
WKH�3URYLQFH��5HJLRQDO�'LVWULFW�)UDVHU-)RUW�*HRUJH��WKH�&ROXPELD�%DVLQ�DQG�1RUWKHUQ�'HYHO�
RSPHQW�,QLWLDWLYH�7UXVWV� 
 

In your service, 

Owen Torgerson, Mayor 
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:KDW�LV�WKH�DQQXDO�UHSRUW" 

(YHU\� ORFDO� JRYHUQPHQW� PXVW� SUHSDUH� DQ� DQQXDO� UHSRUW� DQG� PDNH� LW� DYDLODEOH� IRU� SXEOLF������
LQVSHFWLRQ����GD\V�EHIRUH�LW�LV�UHFHLYHG�DQG�DGRSWHG�E\�&RXQFLO�LQ�DQ�RSHQ�PHHWLQJ��� 

$OWKRXJK� WKLV� FDQ� WDNH� SODFH� LQ� DQ\� RSHQ�&RXQFLO�PHHWLQJ�� WKLV�PHHWLQJ� LV� FRQVLGHUHG� WKH���
$QQXDO�*HQHUDO�0HHWLQJ�RI�WKH�PXQLFLSDOLW\���'XULQJ�WKLV�PHHWLQJ�WKH�SXEOLF�LV�LQYLWHG�WR�PDNH�
FRPPHQWV�DQG�DVN�TXHVWLRQV�EDVHG�RQ�WKH�UHSRUW� 

7KLV�UHSRUW�LV�D�OHJLVODWHG�UHTXLUH�
PHQW�XQGHU�6�����RI�WKH�&RPPXQL�
W\�&KDUWHU��DQG�LV�GXH�-XQH���WK�

RI�HDFK�\HDU� 

:KDW�0XVW�$Q�$QQXDO�5HSRUW�,QFOXGH" 

· the municipality’s audited annual financial statements for the previous year; 

· a list of the permissive tax exemptions provided by Council and for each              
exemption, the amount of property tax that would have been imposed during the 
previous year if the exemption had not been granted; 

· a report on the municipality’s services and operations for the previous year; 

· a progress report on the performance of the municipality with respect to           
established objectives and measures; 

· a statement of objectives and measures that will be used as the basis for           
determining the municipality performance during the current year; and  

· the details of any declarations of disqualification made against individual Council 
members during the previous year. 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

 

6WULYLQJ�IRU�D�+HDOWK\�9LEUDQW���
&RPPXQLW\ 

9LVLRQ 

 

7R�6HUYH�WKH�&RPPXQLW\�WKURXJK���
5HVSRQVLEOH�*RYHUQDQFH 

0LVVLRQ 
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9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

(OHFWHG�GXULQJ�WKH������*HQHUDO�0XQLFLSDO�(OHFWLRQ�DQG�VHUYLQJ�D�WHUP�RI���\HDUV��9DOHPRXQW¶V�
&RXQFLO�LV�PDGH�XS�RI�D�PD\RU�DQG�IRXU�FRXQFLOORUV�DQG�LV�D�FRQWLQXLQJ�ERG\���&RXQFLO�H[HUFLVHV�
LWV�SRZHUV�WKURXJK�UHVROXWLRQV�DQG�E\ODZV�SDVVHG�LQ�PHHWLQJV�RSHQ�WR�WKH�SXEOLF���(DFK�PHPEHU�
RI�&RXQFLO�KDV�RQH�YRWH�ZKHQ�GHFLVLRQV�DUH�PDGH��WKLV�PHDQV�WKDW�DOO�GHFLVLRQV�RI�&RXQFLO�DUH�D�
FROOHFWLYH�RI�WKH�PDMRULW\��GHVSLWH�DQ\�GLIIHULQJ�YLHZV�RI��LQGLYLGXDO�PHPEHUV��� 

&RXQFLO¶V�EURDG�GXWLHV�LQFOXGH��� 

· VHW�VWUDWHJLF�GLUHFWLRQ�� 

· DGRSW�WKH�ORFDO�JRYHUQPHQW·V�ILQDQFLDO�SODQ�� 

· EURDGO\� DOORFDWH� UHVRXUFHV� WR� VHUYLFHV�� FDSLWDO� SURMHFWV�� SURJUDPV� DQG�
RWKHU�SULRULWLHV�� 

· UHSUHVHQW�FLWL]HQV��� 

· HQJDJH�ZLWK�WKH�FRPPXQLW\��DQG�� 

· VHW�SROLFLHV�DQG�E\ODZV� 

&RXQFLO��O�WR�U���&RXQFLOORU�6KHUL�*HH��&RXQFLOORU�+ROOLH�%ODQFKHWWH��0D\RU�2ZHQ�
7RUJHUVRQ��&RXQFLOORU�'RQQLH�0DF/HDQ��&RXQFLOORU�3HWH�3HDUVRQ� 
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Members of Council participate in committees, which is over and above their 
regular duties, while representing their constituents.    

There are different types of committees for council members to participate in: 

6WDQGLQJ�&RPPLWWHHV 

Appointed by the Mayor, 50% 
of the membership are mem-

bers of Council. 

6HOHFW�&RPPLWWHHV 

Appointed by Council and 
must contain one member 

of Council.   

([WHUQDO�%RDUGV��
&RPPLWWHHV��DQG�

$JHQFLHV 

Council members are ap-
pointed upon request by 

the external  
organization. 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

0D\RU��2ZHQ�7RUJHUVRQ 
· Regional District Fraser Fort George Board of 

Directors 

· Valemount and Area Recreation Development 
Association (VARDA) Board of Directors 

· Robson Valley Region Marketing Initiative 
Steering Committee 

· Columbia Basin Trust (CBT) Board of Directors 

· Municipal Finance Authority of BC 

· Northern Development Initiative Trust Prince 
George Regional Advisory Committee 

· Signing Officer  

&RXQFLOORU��+ROOLH�%ODQFKHWWH 
· Parcel Tax Roll Review Panel 

· Clean Air Task Force 

· Housing Committee 

· Valemount and District Fire and Rescue      
Community Consultation Committee 

· Signing Officer 

· Municipal Insurance Association of BC 

· Local Health Liaison (Northern Health) 
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9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

&RXQFLOORU��'RQQLH�0DF/HDQ 

· Parcel Tax Roll Review Panel 

· Clean Air Task Force 

· Valemount Entertainment Society 

· Columbia River Treaty Local Government Com-
mittee 

· Columbia Basin Regional Advisory Committee 

· Municipal Insurance Authority of BC 

 

&RXQFLOORU��6KHUL�*HH 
· Columbia Basin Trust Community Initiatives 

and Affected Areas Program Committee 

· Prince George Treaty Advisory Committee 

· Simpcw First Nation Liaison 

· Municipal Finance Authority of BC 

· Parcel Tax Roll Review Panel 
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9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

&RXQFLOORU��3HWH�3HDUVRQ 
· Tourism Valemount 

· Valemount Historic Society Liaison 

· Trans Canada Yellowhead Highway                  
Association Council Representative 

· Canoe Valley Recreation Community              
Consultation Centre Committee 

· Project Lifesaver Council Representative 

 

Village Council appoints staff  and outside professionals to certain       
statutory and non-statutory roles: 

 

Statutory Officers:   Director of Finance, Lori McNee 

  Chief Administrative Officer/Corporate Officer, 

  Wayne Robinson 

 

Signing Officers:   Director of Finance, Lori McNee  

  Chief Administrative Officer/Corporate Officer, 

  Wayne Robinson 

 

Consulting Engineers:   Urban Systems Ltd. 

 

Subdivision Approving   Lidstone and Company;  

Officers:   Planner, Megan Vicente 
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9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

Council is provided a nominal amount of compensation for the time they       
allocate representing their constituents interests.  This is referred to as      
remuneration and is governed under a bylaw that dictates what the amount 
of remuneration will be for each Councillor or the Mayor.  Council must also 
report on their expenses they are reimbursed for each year. 

 5HPXQHUDWLRQ ([SHQVH 7RWDOV 

7RUJHUVRQ��2ZHQ �������������������� ���������������� ������������ 

%ODQFKHWWH��+ROOLH ���������������������� ������������������� ������������ 

0DF/HDQ��'RQQLH �������������������� ������������������� ������������ 

3HDUVRQ��3HWH ���������������������� ������������������� ����������� 

*HH��6KHUL ��������������������� ������������������� ������������ 

7RWDOV ���������������� �������������� �������������� 

9,//$*(�&281&,/�� 
',648$/,),&$7,216 

The Community Charter requires that the Annual Report contain information         
relating to any members of Council that have been disqualified pursuant to     
Section 111. 

No members of Council were disqualified in 2021 pursuant to Section 111 of the 
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9DOHPRXQW�LV�D�UXUDO�FRPPXQLW\�RI�DSSUR[L�
PDWHO\� ������ UHVLGHQWV� RYHU� DSSUR[LPDWHO\�
��NP���9DOHPRXQW�LV�WKH�FRPPHUFLDO�FHQWUH�
IRU� DQRWKHU� ���� SHRSOH� ZKR� OLYH� LQ� WKH����
5HJLRQDO� 'LVWULFW� RI� )UDVHU-)RUW� *HRUJH�
�$UHD� +��� IURP� $OEUHGD� WR� 6PDOO� 5LYHU��
+RPH�RI�0RXQW�5REVRQ�� WKH� KLJKHVW� SHDN�
LQ� WKH� &DQDGLDQ� 5RFNLHV�� WKH� 9LOODJH� LV� DW�
WKH�WRS�RI�WKH�ZDWHUVKHGV�RI�WKH�)UDVHU�DQG�
&ROXPELD�EDVLQV�� 

7KUHH� PRXQWDLQ� UDQJHV� VXUURXQG� WKH����
FRPPXQLW\�� WKH�&DULERRV��0RQDVKHHV� DQG����
&DQDGLDQ� 5RFNLHV�� QHVWOHG� ZLWKLQ� WKH������
H[SDQVLYH� 5RFN\� 0RXQWDLQ� 7UHQFK�� � 7KH�
UHVXOW� LV� D� EURDG� YDOOH\� WKDW� RIIHUV������������
UHPDUNDEOH� YLHZV� UHJDUGOHVV� RI� WKH���������
GLUHFWLRQ� \RX� ORRN�� � 7KH� JHRORJ\� SULPDULO\�
FRQVLVWV�RI�3DOHR]RLF�DQG��3URWHUR]RLF�VHGL�
PHQWDU\� URFN� DQG� PLQRU� LJQHRXV�������������
IRUPDWLRQV�� ,W� LV�DQ�DUHD�RI�JODFLDO�GULIW�DQG�
FROOXYLXPV� ZLWK� VDQG\� GHSRVLWV� EHLQJ� WKH�
PDLQ� JODFLDO� IHDWXUHV�� � +RZHYHU�� EHLQJ�����
ORFDWHG� DORQJ� D� PDMRU� IDXOW�� 9DOHPRXQW�
KROGV�JUHDW�SURPLVH� LQ� WKH�GHYHORSPHQW�RI�
JHRWKHUPDO�KHDW�DQG�SRZHU�–�SHUKDSV�RQH�
RI� WKH� PRVW� SURPLVLQJ� ORFDWLRQV� LQ� DOO� RI�
&DQDGD�� 

9DOHPRXQW� LV� VWUDWHJLFDOO\� VLWXDWHG� DORQJ�
+Z\� �� DQG� LQ� FORVH� SUR[LPLW\� WR� +Z\� �����
7KH�YLOODJH� LV�D�FULWLFDO�VHUYLFH�SURYLGHU� IRU�
WUDQVSRUWDWLRQ� RI� JRRGV�DQG�SHRSOH�DFURVV�
WKH�FRXQWU\���,W�LV�ORFDWHG�QHDU�WKH�QRUWKHUQ�
WLS� RI� .LQEDVNHW� /DNH� �UHVHUYRLU��� ���� NP�
VRXWK� RI� 3ULQFH� *HRUJH�� ���� NP� QRUWK� RI�
.DPORRSV�� DQG� ���� NP� ZHVW� RI� -DVSHU���
7KH� YLOODJH� LV� WKH� JDWHZD\� WR� %&�� FRPLQJ�
IURP�$OEHUWD�� WKH�EHJLQQLQJ�RI�QRUWKHUQ�%&�
DQG� WKH�HQG�RI� WKH� VRXWKHUQ�SRUWLRQ�RI� WKH�
3URYLQFH�� LW� LV� VDLG� WR�EH�� ³LQ� WKH�PLGGOH�RI�
HYHU\ZKHUH´�� 9DOHPRXQW� LV� D� PHPEHU�����
PXQLFLSDOLW\� RI� WKH� 5HJLRQDO� 'LVWULFW� RI�������
)UDVHU-)RUW�*HRUJH� 

7RGD\�� 9DOHPRXQW¶V� HFRQRP\� LV� ODUJHO\�
EDVHG� RQ� WRXULVP� DQG� MRLQLQJ� WKH� OLNHV� RI�
:KLVWOHU� DQG� 5HYHOVWRNH�� LV� WKH� PRVW�������
QRUWKHUQ� GHVLJQDWHG�5HVRUW� 0XQLFLSDOLW\� LQ�
%&�� �$OWKRXJK�PRVW�DWWUDFWLRQV�DUH� ORFDWHG�
RXWVLGH� WKH� YLOODJH¶V�PXQLFLSDO� ERXQGDULHV��
WKH�FRPPXQLW\�VHUYHV�DV� WKH�DFFRPPRGD�
WLRQ�DQG�VHUYLFH�KXE�IRU� WKH�DUHD¶V�YLVLWRUV���
)RU� RXWGRRU� HQWKXVLDVWV�� 9DOHPRXQW� LV� D�
SUHPLHUH�ORFDWLRQ�WR�UHFUHDWH�EHFDXVH�RI�LWV�
QDWXUDO� EHDXW\�� TXLHW� VROLWXGH�� DQG� IUHVK�
PRXQWDLQ�DLU�� 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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352),/(���-���1RWDEOH�WRXULVW�DWWUDFWLRQV 

· Cranberry Marsh (R.W. Starratt Wildlife Sanctuary), a designated Wildlife           
Management Area and sanctuary for wild birds; 

· Mount Robson Provincial Park; 

· Fraser River/Swift Creek Salmon spawning areas; 

· Spectacular snowmobiling areas offered through Valemount and Area Recreation 
Association (VARDA); 

· World Class Mountain Bike Park (VARDA);  

· Groomed cross country skiing trails at Camp Creek maintained by Yellowhead 
Outdoor Recreation Association (YORA) and at Jackman Flats Provincial Park; 

· Ski-touring in various locations within the surrounding mountain ranges; 

· Mechanized assisted skiing (Helicopter, Snowcat, and Snowmobile); 

· Day hiking and multi day hiking adventures; 

· Maintained back country cabins and camping;  

· Horseback riding; 

· Water sports including: canoeing, kayaking and white-water rafting;  

· Power boating on Kinbasket Reservoir (10 km south of the Village) accessed from 
the marina operated by the Valemount Marina Association; and, 

· Wildlife watching, fishing and hunting opportunities are available throughout the 
year. 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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352),/(���-���%XVLQHVVHV� 

Valemount has more to offer than just tourism; the local economy includes many 
home based businesses as well as larger commercial entities that are employing 
multiple area residents. There is plenty of business opportunities for                           
entrepreneurs as well as land to develop.   

The Village is the majority shareholder of the 
Valemount Community Forest and Valemount 
Industrial Park which are located south of the 
community. These municipally owned                
businesses provide regional employment,        
funding for local programs and offers suitable 
space for industrial ventures to operate from. 

Valemount offers several transportation           
advantages for industry and business.  The         
Village is located on Hwy 5 in close proximity to 
the Hwy 16 junction and has a CN Rail line and 
VIA Rail passenger service. 

The Village operates the Valemount Airport, 
which lies five kilometers to the west of town, 
that is complete with a modern fueling station 
and runway lighting.  The runway is 3800 x 70 
feet in size. 

%XVLQHVV�/LFHQVH�6WDWLVWLFV� ���� ���� 

Home Based Businesses 30 30 

Standard Businesses 146 154 

Short Term Vacation Rentals 19 20 

Not-for-profit 7 7 

Street Vendor 4 8 

7RWDO� ��� ��� 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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352),/(���-���6HUYLFHV 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

· Valemount RCMP Detachment 

· Valemount Volunteer Fire Department 

· BC Ambulance Service 

· Valemount Community Health Centre  

· Valemount Children’s Activity Society (Daycare) 

· Valemount Elementary School 

· Valemount Secondary School 

· Canoe Valley Recreation Centre 

· Valemount Learning Centre 

· Robson Valley Community Services 

· Valemount Senior Citizen Housing Society 

· Valemount Lions Club 

· Valemount Public Library 

· Valemount Museum and Archive 

· Service BC 

· Provincial Court of BC 

Valemount and area is served by many different organizations that include service 
groups, societies, not-for-profits, Regional District and Provincial services.  The list be-
low is not exhaustive but provides a snapshot of what can be found in the Village to sup-
port residents and visitors alike: 
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352),/(���-��������%XLOGLQJ�3HUPLW�6WDWLVWLFV 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

%XLOGLQJ�3HUPLWV ���� ���� 
Decks $14,000 $0 

Additions $296,000 $72,000 

New Construction $1,928,000 $5,172,000 

Woodstove Inspections $42,000 $84,000 

Sheds & Garages $45,000 $42,000 

Roofs $0 $0 

Other (minor renovations) $1,074,000 $94,000 

7RWDO� ���������� ���������� 

Valemount is a community with considerable growth potential.  Over half of the         
Village area has not been developed, including highway commercial opportunities. 

The table below shows the value in building permits that were issued in 2020 and 
2021.   
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6HUYLFHV�3URYLGHG�E\�WKH�9LOODJH 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

The Village provides a wide array of  services throughout the       
community that most people will recognize as a matter of  routine.  
However, these services are critical to the function of  the              
community  and maintaining its health and safety.  These services 
are funded through property taxes, fees for service, and grants. 

· Water treatment and distri-
bution 

· Sewage collection and 
treatment 

· Garbage collection 

· Snow removal, road 
maintenance,                   
transportation 

· Parks and trail mainte-
nance 

· Community beautification 

· Administration,              
Governance and Legal 
matters 

· Taxation, service fee      
collection and financial 
services 

· Grant writing services 

· Bylaw enforcement and 
compliance  

· Animal Control 

· Inspections of  buildings 
for safety 

· Planning and engineering 

· Issuing permits 

· Emergency management 

· Communications 

· Economic development 
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3URMHFWV�RI�1RWH�LQ����� 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

Over and above the daily operations of  the Village and ongoing mainte-
nance, staff  began a variety of  projects that were completed or carried 
through into 2022.  Some of  the projects of  note are listed below:  

 

· New Village website (complete) 

· Trans Mountain Expansion Project provided the funding for: 

·  Water Filling Station (complete) 

·  Sewage Receiving Station (complete) 

· Contracted MVH Consulting for the creation of  Valemount’s new    
 Official Community Plan and Zoning Bylaw. (complete) 

· Significant support for three affordable housing projects: 

·   Valemount Affordable Rental Association ( complete) 

·   Robson Valley Community Services, 1451 5th Ave., housing and  
   child care centre  (under construction) 

·   Valemount Seniors’ Affordable Housing Society  (site selected,    
    surveyed, and funding approved).  

· Self  Cleaning Washrooms at Centennial Park (under construction) 

· Air Quality Review (complete) 

· Swift Creek Restoration (in progress) 

· Water Supply Master Plan  (in progress) 

· Purchase of  Electric Vehicle (purchased) 

· Airport Lighting Repairs (complete) 

· Karas Drive lighting (complete) 
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3URMHFWV�RI�1RWH�LQ����� 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

….Continued 

 

· 17th Ave paving (complete) 

· Main Street seal coating (complete) 

· Valemount Community Forests revised Articles of  Incorporation (in 
progress) 

· Airport Weather Station (complete) 

· Staff  housing (in progress) 

· Geothermal District Heating project (in progress) 

· Public Works Building Expansion Work Plan (complete) 

· Stationary Sign Board (purchased) 

· Lift Stations –Dogwood, 17th Ave, East Area (in progress) 



�� 

 9,//$*(�2)�9$/(02817 

&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULW\ &20081,7<�+($/7+ 

6XSSRUWLQJ� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

Conduct a review of assets and develop a comprehensive asset 
management plan. 

 
&RQWH[W 

 

Asset Management is the ongoing maintenance of assets as they 
age and setting aside sufficient funds to be able to replace those 
assets that have reached the end of their useful lifespan.  This 
ensures the public does not experience interruptions to services 
they rely on.  Examples of assets include: roads, water treatment 
and distribution system, garbage truck and so on.   

 

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
Following purchases or enhancements were completed in 2021: 

 

· Scada upgrades (water and sewer computer systems) 

· 17th Ave paving 

· Main St seal coating 

· Water  Fill station 

· Sewage Receiving station  

· Centennial Park self cleaning washrooms  

· Electric vehicle purchase 

· Airport lighting repairs 

· Karas Drive lighting installation 

· Airport weather station  

· Sign board purchase 
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&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

Address the reality of poor air quality and take steps to remedy 
the situation. 

 
&RQWH[W 

 

After receiving confirmation in 2019 that the Village was subject 
to some of the worst recorded air quality in BC, Village Council, 
staff, and the Clean Air Taskforce (a Committee of Council) took 
action to begin to address this issue and create opportunities to 
reduce negative impacts on the local airshed. 

 

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
· Continue with Wood Stove Exchange Program 

· Dust control within the Village  

· Received a grant from Natural Resource Ministries for a 
Air Quality Data Review study.  Hemmera Enviorchem 
Inc. was contracted to complete air quality study and 
was completed in June of 2021 

· Council committee, Clean Air Task Force continued to 
work on Airshed Planning strategies and developed a list 
of action items.  Funding left from the Resource Ministry 
Grant will be used to assist in these action items.  

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

Fully develop an Emergency Management Plan for the initial 72 
hours of an emergency. 

 
&RQWH[W 

 
A complete re-write of the Village’s Emergency Plan (EMP) was 
initiated in 2019 and continued to be worked on throughout 
2021. This plan will never be truly finished as it requires          
constant updating and revision as new emergency situations are 
realized or learned from. 

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
· Emergency Operations Centre level 1 was activated to 

deal with the Swift Creek landslide event.  This          
emergency was issued and coordinated in conjunction 
with the Regional District of Fraser Fort George.          
Lessons learned were incorporated in the EMP. 

· New administrative equipment and supplies were       
purchased and packaged for use when an EOC must be 
mobile due to local evacuations.  

· Ongoing training in emergency management courses. 

· Staff began researching and working with the Regional 
District on the implementation of a remote, secure      
server that can be accessed if the Village Office was       
evacuated. 

· Village staff continue to support and lead the                
community’s Emergency Support Services program. 

· Emphasis on reviewing and refining the EMP and making 
it more user friendly. 



�� 

 9,//$*(�2)�9$/(02817 

&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

Proactive bylaw enforcement and public education to address 
bylaw infractions that negatively affect the enjoyment of           
community life. 

 
&RQWH[W 

 

Proactive Bylaw Enforcement was rolled out in 2021 when a     
full-time Bylaw Enforcement Officer was hired in July of 2021. 

 

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
· Proactive enforcement was based on timely                 

communication pieces to address seasonal bylaw         
issues. 

· Cooperated with Wildsafe BC to address human wildlife 
conflicts due to animal attractants (improper garbage 
storage). 

· Initiated a ’grease trap’ enforcement strategy to keep 
sewage pipes clear of grease build up. 

· Engaged in campaigns relating to Invasive Weeds. 

· Substantial education campaigns and support of the 
PHO’s Public Health Orders. 

· Ad hock enforcement of the anti-idling bylaw focusing on 
compliance and education - no fines were issued. 

· Much time was spent on ensuring the compliance for RV 
use within the municipality after the bylaw was adopted 
in July. 
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&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULW\ &20081,&$7,216 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

 

Improve Village Websites. 

 
&RQWH[W 

 
Village contracted Goat Social to develop new website and was 
completed in 2021.  

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
· Village deployed a new community engagement platform 

called Civil Spaces.  This new platform was utilized             
repeatedly through the public consultation process to 
develop the new Official Community Plan.  This was an 
invaluable tool, especially due to the COVID-19           
pandemic. 

· Staff continue to utilize this platform for other municipal 
functions. 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW�������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

Increased Collaboration and Communications with Simpcw First 
Nation. 

 
&RQWH[W 

 

Simpcw First Nation have demonstrated a strength of claim for 
the area including the Village as their traditional territory.   
Council recognizes that a close relationship is of mutual benefit 
between both the Village and its First Nation neighbors, and has 
pursued measures to help strengthen that relationship. 

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
· Village engaged Simpcw First Nation throughout the 

consultation phase of the drafting of the new Official 
Community Plan and Zoning Bylaw. 

· Village invited Simpcw First Nation to participate in the 
Valemount Tourism Strategy planning process and     
nominate a Simpcw representative for this purpose. 

· Simpcw provided support, assistance and land based 
knowledge for VARDA’s strategies and plans for trails 
and mountain bike recreation in the Robson Valley 
(which is supported by Tourism Valemount). 

· Village provided letter of support for the Simpcw          
Resources Limited Liability Partnership Molecular             
Recycling Project. 
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&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

Explore Methods to Enhance Communications During            
Emergency Situations. 

 
&RQWH[W 

 
Council recognized that effective communications in the event of 
an emergency are critical to protecting the lives of community 
members.  This was particularly important during COVID-19 and 
the Swift Creek Landslide. 

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
· The Village used a wide array of digital platforms to      

allow for public input and participation during Council 
meetings and community engagement: 

· YouTube live streaming of meetings 

· Zoom 

· Microsoft Team for within the office 

· Civil Spaces to gather community input. 

· Continued the use of procedures adopted to allow for 
public hearings during the pandemic. 

· The use of Voyent Alert! was expanded and further      
developed and advertised 
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&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

Collaboration with Senior Governments to Solve Community    
Issues. 

 
&RQWH[W 

 
Senior governments, their ministries, and officials can have a 
very positive effect on a community.  Relations between them 
and local elected officials is very important.   

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
Regular contact with the following Ministries, Crown Corpo-
rations, and Trusts to further the best interest of the Village 
and associated projects: 

· Ministry of the Environment  (Clean Air, Cranberry 
Marsh) 

· Ministry of Children and Family Development (New 
Child Care Spaces) 

· Ministry of  Municipal Affairs (ongoing COVID re-
sponse and various topics) 

· Northern Health (COVID) 

· Ministry of Tourism, Arts and Culture (Tourism        
initiatives) 

· BC Housing (three potential housing affordable      
developments) 

· Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure 
(routine referrals and OCP/Zoning Bylaw review) 

· RDFFG (regular collaboration on regional issues) 

· TNRD (mutual aid agreement for Public Works staff 
sharing during COVID 19) 

· Columbia Basin Trust (Grants and Programs) 

· Northern Development Initiative Trust (Grants). 

 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULW\ ),6&$/�5(63216,%,/,7< 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

Build reserve funds. 

 
&RQWH[W 

 
Appropriate reserve levels are required to ensure the services 
residents rely on are funded for repairs and replacement so that 
services are not interrupted. 

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
 

· Due to the COVID 19 pandemic, there was a desire to not 
significantly raise utility rates due to overall community 
wide economic pressures. 

· Water filling and sewage dumping fees were received 
from the Trans Mountain Expansion Project.  A portion of 
this will be able to be moved towards reserves at a        
future date. 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 



�� 

 9,//$*(�2)�9$/(02817 

&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

Take advantage of grant opportunities as they arise. 

 
&RQWH[W 

 
Most village revenue comes from property taxes, service fees 
(water, sewer, garbage, permits) and grants.  Grants make up 
more than half of the Village’s municipal budget.  Without grants, 
the Village would not be able to maintain the levels of service 
that our community enjoys and has come to expect. 

 
 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
 

 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

�ĂŶĂĚĂ�^ƵŵŵĞƌ�:ŽďƐ sŝƐŝƚŽƌ�/ŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ��ĞŶƚƌĞ�
^ƵŵŵĞƌ�^ƚĂī ΨϭϮ͕ϳϱϬ� 

�ŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ�/ŶŝƟĂƟǀĞƐ�ĂŶĚ�
�īĞĐƚĞĚ��ƌĞĂƐ�WƌŽŐƌĂŵ sĂůĞŵŽƵŶƚ��ůŝŵďŝŶŐ��ůƵď ΨϮϴ͕ϰϱϬ� 

WƌŽǀŝŶĐŝĂů�tŽŽĚ�^ƚŽǀĞ����������
�ǆĐŚĂŶŐĞ�WƌŽŐƌĂŵ 

ϮϬϮϮ�tŽŽĚ�^ƚŽǀĞ��ǆĐŚĂŶŐĞ�
WƌŽŐƌĂŵ Ψϴ͕ϭϬϬ� 

:ŽďƐ�ĂŶĚ�'ƌŽǁƚŚ�&ƵŶĚ 
sĂůĞŵŽƵŶƚ�'ĞŽƚŚĞƌŵĂů��ŝƐͲ
ƚƌŝĐƚ�,ĞĂƟŶŐ�^ǇƐƚĞŵ͗�^ƵƐͲ
ƚĂŝŶĂǀŝůůĞ 

ΨϳϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ� 

�ĂŶĂĚĂ��ŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ��������������
ZĞǀŝƚĂůŝǌĂƟŽŶ�&ƵŶĚ 

sĂůĞŵŽƵŶƚ�'ĞŽƚŚĞƌŵĂů��ŝƐͲ
ƚƌŝĐƚ�,ĞĂƟŶŐ�^ǇƐƚĞŵ͗�^ƵƐͲ
ƚĂŝŶĂǀŝůůĞ 

ΨϳϱϬ͕ϬϬϬ� 

>ŽĐĂů�'ŽǀĞƌŶŵĞŶƚ��ƉƉƌŽǀĂůƐ�
WƌŽŐƌĂŵ 

sĂůĞŵŽƵŶƚ��ĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ�WƌŽͲ
ĐĞƐƐ�ZĞǀŝĞǁ ΨϯϬ͕ϲϬϬ� 

�ƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ�&ĂĕĂĚĞ�/ŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚ�
WƌŽŐƌĂŵ�;ĐĂƌƌŝĞĚ�ŽǀĞƌͿ 

ϮϬϮϮ��ƵƐŝŶĞƐƐ�&ĂĕĂĚĞ�/ŵͲ
ƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚ�WƌŽŐƌĂŵ Ψϭϰ͕ϳϱϬ� 

�ĞůĞďƌĂƚĞ��ĂŶĂĚĂ �ĂŶĂĚĂ��ĂǇ�ϮϬϮϮ Ψϭ͕ϭϲϬ� 
>ŽǀĞ�EŽƌƚŚĞƌŶ��� >ŽǀĞ�sĂůĞŵŽƵŶƚ�ϮϬϮϭ Ψϭ͕ϮϬϬ� 
�ŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ�ZĞĂĚŝŶĞƐƐ����������
WƌŽŐƌĂŵ 

�ŵĞƌŐĞŶĐǇ�WƌĞƉĂƌĞĚŶĞƐƐ-�
�ŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ�,Ăůů�'ĞŶĞƌĂƚŽƌ� ΨϭϯϬ͕ϮϬϬ� 
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&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

Encourage the adoption of ‘Green Technology’ to reduce          
operating costs and environmental impact. 

 
&RQWH[W 

Village Council recognizes the real challenges and threats      
facing local governments due to climate change.  Adopting 
green technologies not only helps reduce the Village’s carbon 
foot print, which must be offset and reported on through the    
annual CARIP report, but results in budget savings through a   
decreased use in electricity, propane, and fuel. 

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
· Purchased an electric vehicle for the purpose of Bylaw 

and Public Works use. 

· Provided funding towards the Woodstove Exchange  
Program 

· Public works continues to look for new and innovative 
ideas when renovating older municipal buildings.  (heat 
pumps, lighting). 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

Review staff time allocation and enhance staff retention through 
professional development. 

 
&RQWH[W 

Long term, well trained staff is a community’s greatest asset.  
Proper planning is necessary to ensure that staff who retire, or 
otherwise leave the organization, have someone trained and 
qualified to fill the role.  This ensures that service levels are not 
negatively impacted.  The Village benefited from a review of 
roles, responsibilities, and assigned tasks in order to decrease 
budget expenses and improve service levels.   

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
· Staff continue to be enrolled in professional develop-

ment to strengthen their ability to serve the community. 

· Focus on ethics training for municipal staff. 

· Cross training of staff to ensure uninterrupted service 
delivery. 

· Complete review and overhaul of Bylaw Enforcement 
and Animal Control. 

· Succession planning being developed for when staff 
members retire. 

 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULW\ /$1'�86(�3/$11,1*�$1'�'(9(/230(17 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

Review and update Village bylaws and policies. 

 
&RQWH[W 

Bylaws and policies can remain in force for years without any   
review.  This leads to instances where bylaws and policies do not 
align with ever changing circumstances.  It is important that 
these documents be reviewed and potentially amended, or          
repealed on a regular basis.   

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
Bylaw Amendments and Adoptions. 

· Zoning Bylaw Amendment 833, 2020 
· Fees and Charges Bylaw 837,2020 & 854, 2021 
· Development Procedures Bylaw Amendment 839, 2020 
· Wood Stove Regulation Bylaw 838, 2021 
· Council Procedure Bylaw 840, 2021 
· Five Year Financial Plan Bylaw 841, 2021 
· Official Community Plan Bylaw No 843, 2021 
· Tax Rate Bylaw No 845, 2021 
· Street Vendor Bylaw Amendment 844, 2021 
· Cemetery Bylaw Amendment No 846, 2021 
· Bylaw Notice Enforcement and Dispute Adjudication Amend-

ment Bylaw No 849, 2021 
· Permissive Tax Exemption Bylaw No 851, 2021 
· Council Remuneration Bylaw No 853, 2021 
· Wood Burning Appliance Regulation Amendment Bylaw 848, 

2021 
 

Policy updates and developments 

· Animal Control Policy No 80, 2021 
· Appointments to the Board of Directors Policy No 81, 2021 
· Development and Land Use Application Policy No 82, 2021 
· Temporary Residential Structures Policy No 83, 2021 
· Council Code of Conduct Policy No 855, 2021 
 
      

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYHV 

Support community organizations and local businesses 
 & Promote a diverse economy. 

 
&RQWH[W 

The Village endeavors to support local community organizations 
and local business to improve the health and wellness of the       
entire community.   

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
Community Organizations: 

· Staff assistance to the Valemount Ski Society. 

· Partnership with Robson Valley Community Services for 
grant application for Childcare/Affordable Housing Project. 

· Letter of support to Valemount Children's’ Activity Society for 
their grant application to conduct renovations to building. 

· Letter of support to Simpcw Resources Limited liability to   
assess the environmental and economic viability of molecular 
recycling.  

· Letter of support to the Innovation, Science and Economic 
Development Canada’s Universal Broadband Funding         
Program for Columbia Basin Broadband Corporation’s appli-
cation to the program to bring high speed fibre internet     
service in to the community. 

· Financial, land. infrastructure and in-house support for   Vale-
mount Cares Seniors Affordable Housing Project 

· Letter of support to Regional District of Fraser Fort George 
application ot the Local Government Development Approval 
Program which will provide consistent practices between 
business unit. 

· Letter of support to Robson Valley Community Services for 
Men’s Support Program Coordinator. 

· Support and financial contribution for the installation of a 
rainbow crosswalk near the Valemount Secondary School. 

· Administered the Love Valemount Program which supports 
and promotes local businesses. 

· Provide consignment artisans in the Visitor Information     
Centre. 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

Support affordable and age friendly living. 

 
&RQWH[W 

Affordable, age friendly living ensures that people in all stages of 
their lives are able to live and thrive within their community.      
Affordable housing and childcare is a significant barrier.   

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
· Rewrite and adoption of the Official Community Plan where   

housing affordability and diversity is identified as key goals.  

· The OCP includes policies to: 

Encourage infill of vacant residential lots; 

Encourage a variety of housing options including single 
detached and attached housing forms and live work 
developments;  

Require 30% attached housing forms in large residen-
tial  developments in the Residential neighbourhood 
2 and 3 designations; 

Support partnerships within the community that          
facilitate residential infill development for affordable 
rental, employee supportive and/or seniors housing 
needs. 

Monitor Short Term Rentals to ensure they don’t have a 
negative impact and protect the long-term rental 
stock� 

� 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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&RXQFLO·V�6WUDWHJLF�3ULRULWLHV�3URJUHVV�5HSRUW 

6XSSRUWLQJ������� 
,QLWLDWLYH 

Explore the expansion of the airport and municipal boundaries. 

 
&RQWH[W 

The time was not right to expand municipal boundaries, but 
there were some new developments with the regional airport.  
This supporting initiative is a long term initiative and may not see 
a lot of progress at any given time.  

 

$FWLRQV�7DNHQ 
· Airport lighting upgrades were completed. 

· Worked with Urban Systems to survey out plots for leasing 

· Weather station was complete. 

· Continue discussions regarding expansion. 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW�����$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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$�5HVRUW�0XQLFLSDOLW\� 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

Valemount is one of 14 designated Resort Municipalities in British Columbia, 
and  geographically speaking, the most northerly of them all.   

Valemount is able to utilize two funding programs to help further its ability to 
build attractions/tourism amenities and conduct destination advertising.      
Tourism Valemount is a function of the Village through a Select Committee of 
Council that make recommendations to Council on how Tourism should be    
promoted.  This is funded through the Municipal Regional District Tax (MRDT), 
which is a 2% fee added to the cost of hotel rooms.  The second funding source, 
Resort Municipality Initiative (RMI), is based on a formulae determined by the 
province.  This funding is used for building tourism infrastructure, such as 
trails, and other visitor amenities.  Much of this funding has been directed to  
local recreation organizations like VARDA and YORA for the development of 
recreation opportunities for locals and visitors. 
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�����9LOODJH�2UJDQL]DWLRQ�&KDUW 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 



�� 

 9,//$*(�2)�9$/(02817 

�����9LOODJH�6WDII�/LVWLQJ 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

The Village of Valemount enjoys a full compliment of staff to ensure that the Village is 
able to  perform routine operations and respond to new initiatives and emergencies 
as opportunities and situations arise. 

Below is a list that names each staff member and their official titles: 

Bloodoff, Suzanne 
 

Bustin, Robert 

Dennis, Tracey 
 

Etty, Krista 

Gislimberti, Silvio 
 

Hystad, Melanie 

Janum, Sandy 

Kenkle, Vivian 

Knelsen, Cassandra 
 

Kwasnycia, Darcie 

 

McMaster, Alan 

McNee, Lori 

McRae, Dave 

Deputy Director of Finance & Emergency                
Management Coordinator 

Public Works Labourer 

Administration Services Coordinator & Emergency 
Operations Coordinator 

Planning Clerk 

Economic Development Officer & Information      
Technologist 

Public Works Operator 

Public Works Operator—Lead Hand 

Visitor Centre Counsellor 

Accounts Payable Clerk & Visitor Information Centre 
Coordinator 

Administration Services Coordinator & Public Works 
Administration Coordinator 
 
Public Works—Grounds Keeper 

Director of Finance 

Public Works—Operator 



�� 

 9,//$*(�2)�9$/(02817 

�����9LOODJH�6WDII�/LVWLQJ�&RQWLQXHG��� 

Pelletier, Trevor 

Robinson, Jennifer 

Robinson, Wayne 
 

Schneider, Dean 
 

Schnell, Daniel 

Shaw, Madelyn   

Shepherd, Carleena 

Smith, Evan 

Vicente, Megan 
 

Superintendent of Public Works 

Marketing Coordinator  

Chief Administrative Officer & Corporate Officer  

Building Inspector & Bylaw Enforcement Officer                             

Public Works—Operator 

Visitor Centre Counsellor 

Deputy Corporate Officer 

Bylaw Enforcement Officer 

Planner (Statutory Approving Officer—Minor        
Subdivisions) 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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�����3HUPLVVLYH�7D[�([HPSWLRQV 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

Permissive Tax Exemptions are granted at Council’s discretion upon written               
application prior to the adoption of the Permissive Tax Bylaw.  This is decided in the 
calendar year, prior to the year the exemptions will be provided, pursuant to Sections 
224 & 225 of the Community Charter. 
 
For 2021, Village Council adopted the Tax Exempt Property Bylaw No. 831, 2020 
which provided permissive tax exemptions for the properties listed below. This         
includes the value of the property taxes that would have been imposed on the         
properties in 2021 if the properties were not provided exemptions. 

2UJDQL]DWLRQ 9DOXH�RI�7D[�([HPSWLRQ 

Valemount Curling Rink �������� 

Valemount Lions Club �������� 

Royal Canadian Legion  �������� 

Valemount Senior’s (Provincial Rental 
Housing)  

���������� 

United Church of Canada  ��������� 

Roman Catholic Bishop  ���������� 

Valemount and Area Recreation            
Development Association  

�������� 

Valemount New Life Centre   � ���������� 

7RWDO�9DOXH�RI�([HPSWLRQV ����������� 

Valemount Senior’s (Golden Years 
Lodge)  � 

���������� 

Valemount Affordable Rental Society �������� 
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�����3URSHUW\�7D[�%UHDNGRZQ 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

Property owner’s annual property tax bill includes taxes collected by the     
Village on behalf  of  other tax authorities.  The Village only retained 41% of  
the property tax notice. 

The remaining 59% must be transferred to the associated tax authority and is 
outside the control of  the Village.  Should any or all of  the other above tax  
authorities raise their tax rate, property owners can experience an increase 
in their property taxes without the Village receiving a net increase to its 
budget. 
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�����9LOODJH�5HYHQXHV 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

*UDQWV Transfers and funding from other levels of government and 
agencies for specific projects and staff wages.  Examples  
include: Federal Gas Tax, NDIT’s Façade Improvement      
Program, CBT programs. 

7D[DWLRQ Property taxes collected each year.  This funds operations, 
including roads, administration, parks, debt payments, etc. 

8VHU�)HHV Fees collected to operate services like garbage disposal,  
water treatment/distribution, and sewer/sewage treatment.  
Permit fees and licenses are included in this category.  

,QYHVWPHQW�,QFRPH Village Finance Department invests funds located in reserves 
to create an additional revenue source. 

2WKHU These funds come from Village owned building rentals,    
Valemount Community Forest, Visitor Information Centre 
sales, TMEP commitments, and collection of the Hotel/Resort 
tax.  



�� 

 9,//$*(�2)�9$/(02817 

�����9LOODJH�([SHQVHV 

6DODULHV�DQG� 
%HQHILWV 

This includes wages, benefits, training for staff, as well as  
remuneration and expenses for Council. 

2SHUDWLRQV This includes electricity, fuel, phone, internet, equipment 
purchase, supplies, and the cost of contractors working on 
behalf of the Village. 

'HEW�,QWHUHVW The Village carries debt for the building of the Water       
Treatment Plant. 

,QVXUDQFH The Village caries a variety of insurance coverage to protect 
the Village taxpayers. 

3URIHVVLRQDO����
6HUYLFHV 

The Village contracts the service of Lawyers and Engineers 
that could not be justified as regular staff on the payroll. 

$PRUWL]DWLRQ This is a ‘non-cash’ transaction that is directly tied to the   
depreciation of assets as time goes by.  This is reflected in 
article 10 of the 2021 Audited Financial Statements. 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 
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$SSHQGL[�$��������$XGLWHG�)LQDQFLDO�6WDWHPHQWV 

9LOODJH�RI�9DOHPRXQW������$QQXDO�5HSRUW 

The 2021Audited Financial Statements document was prepared by 
the Village’s appointed auditors, KPMG LLP. 

 

The Statements were received  and approved by Council during the  
May 10, 2022  Regular Meeting of  Council. 

 

The Audited Financial Statements follow this page and make up the 
remainder of  the 2021 Annual Report document. 
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KPMG LLP

177 Victoria Street, Suite 400

Prince George BC  V2L 5R8

Canada

Tel (250) 563-7151

Fax (250) 563-5693

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Mayor and Council of The Corporation of the Village of Valemount

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Corporation of the Village
of Valemount  (the "Village"), which comprise:

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021

 the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year

then ended

 the consolidated statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then

ended

 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended

 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements'').

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Village as at December 31,
2021 and its consolidated results of operations, its consolidated changes in net financial
assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
''Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements'' section of our
auditors' report. 

We are independent of the Village in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises:

 information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report thereon,

included in Schedule 1 - Northern Capital Planning Grant and Schedule 2 -

COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.
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Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do
not  and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We obtained the information, other than the financial statements and the auditors' report
thereon, included in Schedule 1 - Northern Capital Planning Grant and Schedule 2 -
COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant  as at the date of this auditors' report. If, based on the
work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in the auditors'
report.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged  with   
Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Village's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Village or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative
but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Village's financial
reporting process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards,
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.



Page 3

We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide

a basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Village's internal

control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern

basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a

material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast

significant doubt on the Village's ability to continue as a going concern. If we

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in

our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if

such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report.

However, future events or conditions may cause the Village to cease to continue

as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of

the entities of business activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on

the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and

performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion. 

Chartered Professional Accountants

Prince George, Canada

May 10, 2022





THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020

2021
Budget

2021
Actual

2020
Actual

Revenue (note 14):
Net taxation revenue (note 12) $ 1,001,230 $ 1,024,288 $ 1,018,298
Sales and user fees 1,085,600 1,834,196 1,432,921
Licenses and permits 36,700 48,553 72,337
Hotel and resort tax 230,000 367,074 380,204
Rentals 57,000 67,324 59,314
Government transfers (note 13):

Provincial 3,971,100 1,723,405 2,297,372
Federal 552,000 200,938 98,121
Other 3,241,850 2,447,149 1,463,182

Investments and penalties 57,500 62,341 117,155
Investments in government business

enterprise and partnerships (note 4) 171,775 1,339,173 1,558,499
Visitor centre - 22,747 14,535

Total revenues 10,404,755 9,137,188 8,511,938

Expenses (note 14):
Legislature 55,000 52,902 50,937
General government 1,533,750 1,607,032 1,370,343
Protective services 111,500 82,589 94,269
Transportation services 593,980 491,682 383,715
Environmental and public health 140,500 125,649 91,818
Recreation and community development 1,258,200 983,102 819,255
Water utility 764,925 708,355 497,094
Sanitary sewer system 542,900 528,252 490,464
Visitor centre 186,000 68,960 77,710

Total expenditures 5,186,755 4,648,523 3,875,605

Annual surplus 5,218,000 4,488,665 4,636,333

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 31,264,240 31,264,240 26,627,907

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 36,482,240 $ 35,752,905 $ 31,264,240

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets

Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020

2021
Budget

2021
Actual

2020
Actual

Annual surplus $ 5,218,000 $ 4,488,665 $ 4,636,333

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (6,199,400) (2,818,144) (1,350,253)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 234,800 613,610 576,362

(5,964,600) (2,204,534) (773,891)

Use of prepaid expenses - 36,168 35,009
Purchase of prepaid expenses - (22,453) (36,168)

Change in net financial assets (746,600) 2,297,846 3,861,283

Net financial assets, beginning of year 17,028,204 17,028,204 13,166,921

Net financial assets, end of year $ 16,281,604 $ 19,326,050 $ 17,028,204

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020

2021 2020

Cash provided by (used in):

Operations:
Annual surplus $ 4,488,665 $ 4,636,333
Items not involving cash:

Amortization of tangible capital assets 613,610 576,362
Equity in earnings in government business enterprise

and partnerships (1,339,173) (1,558,499)
Changes in non-cash operating working capital:

Accounts receivable (595,156) (657,130)
Inventories (312) (857)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (221,018) 289,621
Deferred revenue 712,359 487,240
Development cost charge reserve fund 562 3,102
Prepaid expenses 13,715 (1,159)
Refundable deposits (21,000) (221,000)

Net change in cash from operating activities 3,652,252 3,554,013

Capital activities:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (2,818,144) (1,350,253)

Financing activities:
Repayment of long-term debt (60,598) (58,268)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 773,510 2,145,492

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 10,144,593 7,999,101

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 10,918,103 $ 10,144,593

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2021

Nature of operations:

The Corporation of the Village of Valemount (the "Village") is a municipality that was created in 1966

under the Community Charter, formerly the Municipal Act, a statute of the Province of British

Columbia.  The Village's principal activities include the provision of local government services to

residents of the incorporated area.  These services include administrative, protective, transportation,

environmental, recreational, water, sewer and fiscal services.

1. Significant accounting policies:

The consolidated financial statements of the Village are prepared in accordance with Canadian

generally accepted accounting principles for governments as recommended by the Public

Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Professional

Accountants.  Significant accounting policies adopted by the Village are as follows:

(a) Basis of consolidation:

(i) Consolidated entities:

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and

expenses of the reporting entity.  The reporting entity is comprised of all

organizations, committees and local boards accountable for the administration of their

financial affairs and resources to the Village and which are owned or controlled by the

Village.

(ii) Accounting for Region and School Board Transactions:

The taxation, other revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities with respect to the

operation of the Region and the School Board are not reflected in these consolidated

financial statements.

(iii) Trust funds:

Trust funds and their related operations administered by the Village are not included

in these consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued):

(iv) Investment in Government Business Enterprises and Partnerships:

The Village's records its investments in government business enterprises (GBEs) and

government business partnerships (GBPs) on a modified equity basis.  Under the

modified equity basis, the GBEs and GBPs accounting policies are not adjusted to

conform with those of the Village's and inter-organizational transactions and balances

are not eliminated.  The Village recognizes its equity interest in the annual earnings or

loss of the GBEs and GBPs in its consolidated statement of operations with a

corresponding increase or decrease in its investment asset account.  Any dividends

or other cash distributions are recorded as a reduction to the investment asset

account.  The GBEs and GBPs account for their transactions under accounting

standards for private enterprises due to the fact that management believes that the

differences between accounting standards for private enterprises and international

financial reporting standards are not significant.

The Village's investments in government business enterprises consist of the following:

 Valemount Community Forest Company Ltd. - 100% interest

 Valemount Industrial Park Company Ltd. - 100% interest

The Village's investments in government business partnerships consist of the

following: 

 Valemount Community Forest LP - 99.99% interest

 Valemount Industrial Park LP - 99.99% interest

(b) Basis of accounting:

The Village follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses.

Revenues are normally recognized in the year in which they are earned and measurable.

Expenses are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of

goods or services and/or the creation of a legal obligation to pay.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(c) Revenue recognition:

Taxation and user fee revenues are recognized in accordance with the provisions of the

Community Charter.  The Village is required to act as the agent for the collection of certain

taxes and fees imposed by other authorities.  Collections for other authorities are excluded

from the Village's taxation revenues.

Revenue unearned in the current period is reported on the consolidated statement of

financial position as deferred revenue or deposits.

(d) Investment income:

Investment income is reported as revenue in the period earned.  When required by the

funding agency or related Act, investment income earned on deferred revenue is added to

the investment and forms part of the deferred revenue balance.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash equivalents include short-term highly liquid investments with a term to maturity of 90

days or less at acquisition.

(f) Non-financial assets:

Non-financial assets not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in

the provision of services.  They have useful lives extending beyond the current year end

and are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations.

7



THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(f) Non-financial assets (continued):

(i) Tangible capital assets:

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts that are

directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the

asset.  The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land,

are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Asset Useful life

Building and site improvements 4 - 75 years
Machinery and equipment 5 - 20 years
Roads infrastructure 10 - 100 years
Water and wastewater infrastructure 10 - 100 years

(g) Contaminated sites:

Contaminated sites are defined as the result of contamination being introduced in air, soil,

water or sediment of a chemical, organic, or radioactive material or live organism that

exceeds an environmental standard.

A liability for remediation of contaminated sites is recognized, net of any expected

recoveries, when all of the following criteria are met:

(a) an environmental standard exists,

(b) contamination exceeds the environmental standard,

(c) the organization is directly responsible or accepts responsibility for the

liability,

(d) future economic benefits will be given up, and

(e) a reasonable estimate of the liability can be made.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(h) Inventory:

Inventory on hand at the financial statement date consists of items purchased for re-sale

and is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Cost is determined based on

first-in-first-out. 

2. Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of cash balances and short-term investments held with

the Municipal Finance Authority in a money market investment fund as follows:

2021 2020

Cash $ 1,872,144 $ 2,091,571
Short-term investments 9,045,959 8,053,022

$ 10,918,103 $ 10,144,593

3. Accounts receivable:

2021 2020

Taxes $ 516,674 $ 545,429
Grants 129,331 146,454
Sales tax 76,740 54,706
Miscellaneous 105,619 172,841
BC Hydro - 580,756
Trans Mountain 1,266,978 -

$ 2,095,342 $ 1,500,186
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

4. Investment in government business enterprises and partnerships:

2021 2020

Valemount Community Forest Company Ltd. $ 6,340,799 $ 6,352,629
Valemount Community Forest Limited Partnership 2,795,302 1,339,687
Valemount Industrial Park Limited Partnership 378,416 479,949
Valemount Industrial Park Company Ltd. (7,079) (4,000)

Total investment $ 9,507,438 $ 8,168,265

2021 2020

Profit (loss) on investments in government business

enterprises and partnerships:

Valemount Community Forest Company Ltd. $ (11,830) $ (32,967)
Valemount Community Forest Limited Partnership 1,455,615 1,199,760
Valemount Industrial Park Limited Partnership (101,533) 395,706
Valemount Industrial Park Company Ltd. (3,079) (4,000)

$ 1,339,173 $ 1,558,499
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

4. Investment in government business enterprises and partnerships (continued):

a) Valemount Community Forest Company Ltd.:

Valemount Community Forest Company Ltd. (the "Company") was incorporated under the

British Columbia Business Corporations Act on July 27, 2007. The Company has

Community Forest Agreements in the Valemount, B.C. area. 

2021 2020

Investments:
Investment in shares of the company $ 1 $ 1
Accumulated earnings 6,340,798 6,352,627

$ 6,340,799 $ 6,352,628

(i) Financial position:

Assets:

Current $ 31,059 $ 56,054
Long-term 6,798,380 6,868,263

Total assets 6,829,439 6,924,317

Liabilities:

Current 44,782 80,955
Long-term 443,858 490,733

Total liabilities 488,640 571,688

Equity:

Share capital 1 1
Retained earnings 6,340,798 6,352,628

Total equity 6,340,799 6,352,629

Total liabilities and equity 6,829,439 6,924,317

(ii) Operations:

Revenue 5,412 7,404
Expenses 17,242 40,371

Net earnings $ (11,830) $ (32,967)
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

4. Investment in government business enterprises and partnerships (continued):

b) Valemount Community Forest Limited Partnership:

Valemount Community Forest Limited Partnership (the "Partnership") was created under the

British Columbia Partnership Act on January 14, 2019. The Partnership has Community

Forest Agreements in the Valemount, B.C. area.

2021 2020

Investments:
Initial investment $ 10,000 $ 10,000
Partners' accumulated earnings 2,785,302 1,329,687

$ 2,795,302 $ 1,339,687

(i) Financial position:

Assets:

Current $ 3,160,240 $ 3,776,475
Property and equipment 56,025 71,655
Forest licenses 1,583,680 1,666,343
Undistributed patronage 3,070 3,070
Due from related party 1,900,000 -

Total assets 6,703,015 5,517,543

Liabilities:

Current 3,706,859 4,162,832
Long-term 195,156 14,890
Provision for road decommissioning 5,418 -

Total liabilities 3,907,433 4,177,722

Partners' Equity 2,795,582 1,339,821

Total equity 2,795,582 1,339,821

Total liabilities and partners' equity 6,703,015 5,517,543

(ii) Operations:

Revenue 9,168,476 10,297,193
Expenses 7,712,715 9,097,313

Net earnings $ 1,455,761 1,199,880

The Village's portion of net earnings - 99.99% $ 1,455,615 $ 1,199,760
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

4. Investment in government business enterprises and partnerships (continued):

c) Valemount Industrial Park Limited Partnership:

Valemount Industrial Park Limited Partnership (the "Partnership") was created under the

British Columbia Partnership Act on January 14, 2019 as part of reorganization of the

Valemount Community Forest Company Ltd., which all of the commercial real estate was

transferred.  The Partnership's operation includes providing loan and rentals of property and

equipment.

2021 2020

Investments:
Initial investment $ 10,000 $ 10,000
Partners' accumulated earnings 368,416 469,949

$ 378,416 $ 479,949

(i) Financial position:

Assets:

Current $ 529,496 $ 569,527
Property and equipment 6,032,123 3,914,280
Loan receivable 240,363 283,134

Total assets 6,801,982 4,766,941

Liabilities:

Current 6,423,528 4,286,944

Total liabilities 6,423,528 4,286,944

Partners'  equity 378,454 479,997

Total equity 378,454 479,997

Total liabilities and partners' equity 6,801,982 4,766,941

(ii) Operations:

Revenue 749,546 603,487
Expenses 851,089 207,741

Net earnings $ (101,543) 395,746

The Village's portion of net earnings - 99.99% $ (101,533) $ 395,706
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

4. Investment in government business enterprises and partnerships (continued):

d) Valemount Industrial Park Company Limited:

Valemount Industrial Park Company Limited (the "Company") was incorporated under the

British Columbia Business Corporations Act on July 27, 2007. The Company has

Community Forest Agreements in the Valemount, B.C. area. 

2021 2020

Investments:
Investment in shares of the company $ - $ -
Accumulated earnings (7,079) (4,000)

$ (7,079) $ (4,000)

(i) Financial position:

Assets:

Current $ 24,985 $ 27,155
Investment in partnerships 36 47

Total assets 25,021 27,202

Liabilities:

Current 32,100 31,202

Total liabilities 32,100 31,202

Retained earnings (7,079) (4,000)

Total equity (7,079) (4,000)

Total liabilities and equity 25,021 27,202

(ii) Operations:

Revenue (10) 40
Expenses 3,069 3,244

Net earnings $ (3,079) $ (3,204)
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

5. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

2021 2020

Trade $ 212,267 $ 470,998
Wages and related costs 291,278 282,399
Government remittance 55,439 30,485
Other 6,576 2,696

$ 565,560 $ 786,578

6. Development cost charge reserve fund:

The development cost charge reserve fund represents amounts collected by the Village to be

used to fund future capital costs related to subdivision infrastructure as required.

2021 2020

Balance, beginning of year $ 368,887 $ 365,785
Contributions - interest earned 562 3,102

$ 369,449 $ 368,887

7. Deferred revenue:

2021 2020

Unexpended grants - Columbia Basin Trust $ 121,695 $ 283,939
Unexpended grants - other 597,390 592,199
Ministry of Children and Family Development 888,580 -
Prepaid property taxes 44,171 59,642
Deferred revenue - other 122,837 126,534

$ 1,774,673 $ 1,062,314
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

8. Debt, net of sinking funds:

The Village issues debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia

("MFA"), pursuant to security issuing bylaws under authority of the Community Charter, to

finance certain capital expenditures. Sinking Fund balances, managed by MFA, are used to

reduce debt.

By-Law
Number

Interest
rate

Year of
maturity

Gross
debt

Sinking
Fund

Assets
Net debt

2021
Net debt

2020

Water Fund:

Water 587 4.65% 2026 178,906 60,815 118,091 139,054
Water 635 4.17% 2029 457,713 77,900 379,813 419,448

$ 636,619 $ 138,715 $ 497,904 $ 558,502

Debt is reported net of sinking fund balances on the consolidated statement of financial

position.

(a) Principal and sinking fund payments due within the next five years and onward are as

follows:

Total 

2022 $ 37,852
2023 37,852
2024 37,852
2025 37,852
2026 37,852
Onward 77,241

266,501
Estimated sinking fund income 231,403

$ 497,904

(b) Sinking fund instalments are invested by the MFA and earn income which, together with

principal payments, are expected to be sufficient to retire the sinking debt at maturity.

For sinking fund agreements, the MFA has established either a normal sinking fund or a

capital repayment equalization fund.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

9. Tangible capital assets:

2021

Land

Buildings
and site

improvements

Machinery
and

equipment
Roads

infrastructure
Water

infrastructure
Waste water

infrastructure Total

Cost:

Balance, beginning of year $ 1,153,267 $ 4,350,862 $ 2,351,821 $ 5,457,635 $ 6,331,874 $ 5,334,862 $ 24,980,321
Additions - 350,207 103,075 1,231,054 498,839 634,969 2,818,144

Balance, end of year 1,153,267 4,701,069 2,454,896 6,688,689 6,830,713 5,969,831 27,798,465

Accumulated amortization:

Balance, beginning of year - 1,984,755 1,169,522 2,801,688 2,345,856 2,478,632 10,780,453
Amortization expense - 110,632 140,911 180,298 74,363 107,406 613,610

Balance, end of year - 2,095,387 1,310,433 2,981,986 2,420,219 2,586,038 11,394,063

Net book value, end of year $ 1,153,267 $ 2,605,682 $ 1,144,463 $ 3,706,703 $ 4,410,494 $ 3,383,793 $ 16,404,402
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

9. Tangible capital assets (continued):

2020

Land

Building
and site

improvements
Machinery and

equipment
Roads

infrastructure
Water

infrastructure
Waste water

infrastructure Total

Cost:

Balance, beginning of year $ 1,153,267 $ 4,319,555 $ 2,175,457 $ 5,392,045 $ 5,884,250 $ 4,721,526 $ 23,646,100
Additions - 31,307 192,396 65,590 447,624 613,336 1,350,253
Disposals - - (16,032) - - - (16,032)

Balance, end of year 1,153,267 4,350,862 2,351,821 5,457,635 6,331,874 5,334,862 24,980,321

Accumulated amortization:

Balance, beginning of year - 1,874,224 1,048,491 2,630,691 2,282,516 2,384,201 10,220,123
Disposals - - (16,032) - - - (16,032)
Amortization expense - 110,531 137,063 170,997 63,340 94,431 576,362

Balance, end of year - 1,984,755 1,169,522 2,801,688 2,345,856 2,478,632 10,780,453

Net book value, end of year $ 1,153,267 $ 2,366,107 $ 1,182,299 $ 2,655,947 $ 3,986,018 $ 2,856,230 $ 14,199,868
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

10. Accumulated surplus:

2021 2020

Surplus:

Invested in tangible capital assets $ 15,915,804 $ 13,650,673
General fund:

Unrestricted 4,050,104 3,544,336
Restricted 9,487,440 8,168,264

Water utility fund 895,094 881,932
Sanitary sewer fund 1,143,220 541,933

Total surplus 31,491,662 26,787,138

Reserves set aside by Council:

Capital works machinery and equipment 392,229 391,633
Land sales 68,733 68,629
Northern Capital Planning Grant 3,512,199 3,729,089
MFA unexpended funds - water 15,703 15,795
MFA unexpended funds - sewer 272,379 271,956

Total reserves 4,261,243 4,477,102

$ 35,752,905 $ 31,264,240

11. Commitments and contingencies:

(f) The Village is responsible, as a member of the Regional District of Fraser-Fort George,

for its portion of any operating deficits or capital debt related to functions in which it

participates.

(g) The Village issues debt instruments through the MFA. As a condition of these

borrowings, 1% of gross proceeds are required by the MFA for the Village to deposit

into a debt reserve fund. The Village is also required to execute demand notes in

connection with each debenture whereby the Village may be required to loan certain

amounts to the MFA. These demand notes are contingent in nature and are not

reflected in the accounts. The demand notes issued at December 31, 2021 aggregated

$34,512 (2020 - $34,512).
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

11. Commitments and contingencies (continued):

(c) The Village and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan ("the Plan"), a

jointly-trusteed pension plan. The Board of Trustees, representing plan members and

employers, is responsible for administering the plan, including investment of assets and

administration of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan.

Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As at December 31, 2020, the Plan has

about 220,000 active members and approximately 112,000 retired members. Active

members include approximately 42,000 contributors from the local governments.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of

the Plan and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate

combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the Plan. The actuary’s

calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age normal cost method, which

produces the long-term rate of member and employer contributions sufficient to provide

benefits for average future entrants to the Plan. This rate may be then adjusted for the

amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of

any unfunded actuarial liability. 

The most recent valuation for the Plan as at December 31, 2018, indicated a $2,866

million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  

The Village paid $110,273 (2020 - $105,211) for employer contributions to the Plan in

fiscal 2021.  

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2021, with results available in 2022. 

Employers participating in the Plan record their pension expense as the amount of

employer contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan

accounting).  This is because the Plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets

for the Plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the

obligation, assets and cost to individual employers participating in the Plan. 

(d) The Village is obligated to collect and transmit property taxes levied on Valemount

taxpayers in respect of the following bodies:

Ministry of Education, Province of British Columbia

Regional District of Fraser-Fort George

Fraser-Fort George Regional Hospital District

British Columbia Assessment Authority

Municipal Finance Authority

Royal Canadian Mounted Police
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

11. Commitments and contingencies (continued):

(e) The Village is a participant in the Municipal Insurance Association of British Columbia

(the "Association").  Should the Association pay out a claim in excess of premiums

received, it is possible that the Village, along with other participants, would be required

to contribute toward the deficit.

12. Net taxation revenue:

As indicated in note 1(c), the Village is required to collect taxes on behalf of and transfer the

appropriate portion of these amounts to the government agencies below:

2021 2020

Taxes collected:

General purposes $ 879,097 $ 868,514
Frontage tax 105,129 105,795
Grants in lieu of taxes 43,044 43,985
Collection of other governments 1,516,918 1,399,626

2,544,188 2,417,920

Transfers to other governments:

Ministry of Education, Province of British Columbia 558,564 440,989
Regional District of Fraser-Fort George 701,149 714,435
Fraser-Fort George Regional Hospital District 173,480 157,104
B.C. Assessment Authority 12,125 12,072
Municipal Finance Authority 54 55
Royal Canadian Mounted Police 74,528 74,967

1,519,900 1,399,622

$ 1,024,288 $ 1,018,298
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

13. Government transfers:

The Village recognizes the transfer of government funding as expenses or revenues in the

period that the events giving rise to the transfer occurred.  The government transfers reported

on the statement of operations and accumulated surplus are:

2021 2020

Provincial grants:

BC Hydro $ 483,411 $ 460,424
COVID-19 Restart Grant - 501,000
Miscellaneous Conditional 553,324 112,108
Ministry of Children and Family Development 263,420 -
Northern Capital Planning Grant - 785,000
Unconditional 352,000 354,477
Northern Development Initiative Trust 71,250 84,363

Subtotal provincial grants 1,723,405 2,297,372

Federal grants:

Gas tax 200,938 98,121

Subtotal federal grants 200,938 98,121

Other grants:

Columbia Basin Trust 411,096 249,772
Trans Mountain 2,036,053 1,213,410

Subtotal other grants 2,447,149 1,463,182

Total revenue $ 4,371,492 $ 3,858,675
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

14. Segmented information:

The Village is a diversified municipal organization that provides a wide range of services to its

citizens.  For management reporting purposes, the Village's operations and activities are

organized and reported by service areas.  Service areas that have been separately disclosed in

the segmented information, along with the services they provide, are as follows:

a) Legislature:

Within legislature are Council operations. Council members set the overall direction of  the

municipality through their role as a policy maker by creating new policies, bylaws and

programs.

b) General government:

The general government operations provides the functions of corporate administration and

legislative services and any other functions categorized as non-departmental in the Village.

c) Protective services:

Protective services is comprised of emergency management and regulatory services.

d) Transportation services:

Transportation services is responsible for a wide variety of services including the

development and maintenance of the Village's roadway systems through the Public Works

department, snow removal and street lighting.

e) Environmental and public health:

Environmental and public health provides garbage collection and disposal services to

residents and businesses in the Village as well as maintenance of the cemetery.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

14. Segmented information: (continued):

f) Recreation and community development:

Recreation and community development is responsible for the construction and

maintenance of the Village's parks and green spaces.  It provides funding for the operation

of  the community hall, museum, library, courthouse, and visitor information centre.  It also

administers economic development projects and provides grants to various community

groups that provide recreational opportunities in the Village.

g) Water utility:

The water utility is responsible for installing and maintaining water mains, pump stations and

the water treatment plant.  The treatment and distribution of water in the Village through

Public Works is included in this segment.

h) Sanitary Sewer System:

The sanitary sewer system is responsible for installing and maintaining sewer mains, lift

stations and the sewage treatment facility.  The collection and treatment of sewage in the

Village through Public Works is included in this segment.

i) Visitor Centre:

Visitor Centre is responsible for the operations of the Valemount Visitor Centre, which is

owned and operated by the Village.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

14. Segmented information: (continued):

The following statement provides additional information for the foregoing functions.  The accounting policies used in these segments are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements as disclosed in Note 1.

2021

General
Government

Protective
Services

Transportation
Services

Environmental
and Public

Health Legislature

Recreation and
Community

Development Water Utility
Sanitary Sewer

System Visitor Centre Total

Revenue:

Taxation $ 919,159 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 105,129 $ - $ - $ 1,024,288
User charges 17,406 48,552 - 129,071 - 86,424 633,968 967,328 - 1,882,749
Grants 3,373,814 - - - - - 498,839 498,839 - 4,371,492
Investment income 62,341 - - - - - - - - 62,341
Other 1,339,173 - - - - 434,398 - - 22,747 1,796,318

Total revenue 5,711,893 48,552 - 129,071 - 520,822 1,237,936 1,466,167 22,747 9,137,188

Expenses:

Salaries and employee benefits 600,327 77,432 190,465 48,235 52,902 96,190 182,157 151,736 62,036 1,461,480
Operating 569,719 5,157 301,217 77,414 - 886,912 348,753 243,022 6,924 2,439,118
Interest - - - - - - 38,081 - - 38,081
Insurance 41,899 - - - - - - - - 41,899
Professional services 54,335 - - - - - - - - 54,335
Amortization 340,752 - - - - - 139,364 133,494 - 613,610

Total expenses 1,607,032 82,589 491,682 125,649 52,902 983,102 708,355 528,252 68,960 4,648,523

Annual surplus (deficit) $ 4,104,861 $ (34,037) $ (491,682) $ 3,422 $ (52,902) $ (462,280) $ 529,581 $ 937,915 $ (46,213) $ 4,488,665
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

14. Segmented information: (continued):

2020

General
Government

Protective
Services

Transportation
Services

Environmental
and Public

Health Legislature

Recreation and
Community

Development Water Utility
Sanitary Sewer

System Visitor Centre Total

Revenue:

Taxation $ 912,502 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 105,796 $ - $ - $ 1,018,298
User charges 42,727 72,337 - 104,793 - 89,169 508,066 688,166 - 1,505,258
Grants 2,797,715 - - - - - 447,624 613,336 - 3,858,675
Investment income 117,155 - - - - - - - - 117,155
Other 1,558,499 - - - - 439,518 - - 14,535 2,012,552

Total revenue 5,428,598 72,337 - 104,793 - 528,687 1,061,486 1,301,502 14,535 8,511,938

Expenses:

Salaries and employee benefits 628,727 88,466 167,968 40,020 50,937 150,119 178,223 140,525 61,303 1,506,288
Operating 346,259 5,803 215,747 51,798 - 669,136 154,866 229,420 16,407 1,689,436
Interest - - - - - - 35,665 - - 35,665
Insurance 38,043 - - - - - - - - 38,043
Professional services 29,811 - - - - - - - - 29,811
Amortization 327,503 - - - - - 128,340 120,519 - 576,362

Total expenses 1,370,343 94,269 383,715 91,818 50,937 819,255 497,094 490,464 77,710 3,875,605

Annual surplus (deficit) $ 4,058,255 $ (21,932) $ (383,715) $ 12,975 $ (50,937) $ (290,568) $ 564,392 $ 811,038 $ (63,175) $ 4,636,333
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

15. Trust funds:

The Village maintains a cemetery perpetual care fund in accordance with the Cemeteries and

Funeral Services Act.  The trust fund balance sheet at December 31, 2021 is as follows:

2021 2020

MFA Investment pool $ 46,509 $ 44,590
Cemetery trust liability (46,509) (44,590)

16. Budget data:

The budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements is based upon the 2021

operating and capital budgets approved by Council on May 11, 2021. Amortization was not

contemplated on development of the budget and, as such, has not been included.  The table

below reconciles the approved budget to the budget figures reported in these consolidated

financial statements.

Budget amount

Revenues:

Operating budget $ 11,202,505
Less:

Transfer from other funds (797,750)

Total revenue 10,404,755

Expenses:

Operating budget 11,202,505
Less:

Capital expenditures (5,977,750)
Debt principal payments (38,000)

5,186,755

Annual surplus $ 5,218,000
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2021

17. Contractual rights:

The Village (the "Landlord") has entered into a contract with Her Majesty the Queen in Right of

the Province of British Columbia as represented by the Minister of Citizens Services (the

"Tenant") to rent approximately 1,679 square feet of the Village's Court House.  The term of this

lease is for 5 years commencing on February 1, 2020 with annual payments consisting of

$26,679 to be paid to the Village. 

18. Comparative information:

Certain 2020 comparative information has been reclassified.  The changes had no impact on

prior year annual surplus.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Schedule 1 - Northern Capital Planning Grant

Year ended December 31, 2021
(Unaudited)

In March 2019 the Village of Valemount was the recipient of $2,882,000 under the Northern Capital

and Planning Grant (NCPG) program from the Province of British Columbia and received a second

allocation of $785,000 in March 2020. Grant money was allocated by the Village of Valemount to

uniquely identified capital. The table below outlines the outstanding NCPG funds in reserve at

December 31, 2020, deducts the approved expenses from 2021 and adds interest earned on the

reserve fund in 2021 to reach the remaining NCPG reserve fund balance at December 31, 2021 of

$3,512,199. The Village has included below the allocations approved in 2021 for specific upcoming

projects in the amount of $3,303,181. 

2021

Opening balance of reserve Northern Capital Planning Grant $ 3,729,089
Interest 5,677

3,734,766

2021 expenses incurred

Dogwood lift station 70,513
East area lift station 65,616
Senior's Life Station 62,074
Water calibration 4,205
Public works building 7,802
Swift Creek restoration 12,355

222,565

2021 allocations by Council

Dogwood lift station 1,853,770
17th Ave decommission 350,000
East Area lift station 720,884
High lift station pump 63,390
Water calibration 13,795
Public works building 7,198
Swift Creek restoration 89,144
Garbage truck 150,000
DDC Bylaw 55,000

Total 2021 allocation 3,303,181

Remaining NCPG available for allocation in 2022 $ 209,020
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THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF VALEMOUNT
Schedule 2 - COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant

Year ended December 31, 2021
(Unaudited)

In November 2020, the Corporation of the Village of Valemount was the recipient of a $501,000

grant under the COVID-19 Safe Restart for Local Governments program from the Province of British

Columbia.  Due to the conditions of use this grant funding allows local governments to use the

funding where the greatest need arises, the initial $501,000 amount received was considered

revenue in 2020 and included in grant revenue on the consolidated statement of operations and

accumulated surplus. The Village utilized $82,346 within 2021 to cover operational costs in addition

to overall pandemic responses incurred since the beginning of the pandemic in the spring of 2020.

The Village has allocated $417,500 in fiscal 2021 for projects to be completed.

2021

Grant funding received $ 501,000

Less amount utilized in 2021:

Laptops 17,101
Stationary sign board 20,528
Airport lighting repairs 29,500
EV 15,217

82,346

Village generator 100,000
Municipal hall generator 150,000
CBT internet connectivity 62,500
VIC Janitorial 2,500
SCADA 30,000
Community Hall generator 32,500
Security upgrades 40,000

Total 2021 allocation of COVID-19 Safe Restart grant 417,500

Remaining COVID-19 Safe Restart grant for allocation in 2022 $ 1,154

30


	2021 Audited Financials.pdf
	Title page
	Independent Auditors' Report
	Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus
	Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets
	Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	Nature of operations
	Basis of consolidation
	Basis of accounting
	Revenue recognition
	Investment income
	Cash and cash equivalents
	Non-financial assets
	Contaminated sites
	Inventory

	Cash and cash equivalents
	Accounts receivable
	Investment in government business enterprises and partnerships
	Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
	Development cost charge reserve fund
	Deferred revenue
	Debt, net of sinking funds
	Tangible capital assets
	Accumulated surplus
	Commitments and contingencies
	Net taxation revenue
	Government transfers
	Segmented information:
	Trust funds:
	Budget data
	Contractual rights:
	Comparative information:

	Sched oth 1




